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Preface



WHILE RESEARCHING IN THE ORIENTAL AND INDIAN COLLECTION OF the British Library, London, in 1997, on another matter, I came across certain documents which revealed that the partition of India in August 1947 may not have been totally unconnected with the British concern that the Great Game between them and the USSR for acquiring influence in the area lying between Turkey and India was likely to recommence with even greater gusto after the Second World War. And to find military bases and partners for the same.


The USSR’s powerful victory over Germany in 1945 had increased Joseph Stalin’s ambitions to extend his country’s influence into territories on its periphery; indeed, he had already started to do so in Eastern Europe. To the Soviet Union’s southern border lay the region of the Persian Gulf with its oil fields – the wells of power – that were of vital interest to the West. Under the circumstances, Britain could ill afford to lose control over the entire Indian subcontinent that had served as its military base in dominating the Indian Ocean area and the countries around the Persian Gulf for more than half a century and which was also the main source of manpower for the Imperial Army.


Once the British realized that the Indian nationalists who would rule India after its independence would deny them military cooperation under a British Commonwealth defence umbrella, they settled for those willing to do so by using religion for the purpose. Their problem could be solved if Mohammad Ali Jinnah, the leader of the Muslim League Party, would succeed in his plan to detach the northwest of India abutting Iran, Afghanistan and Sinkiang and establish a separate state there – Pakistan. The proposition was a realizable one as a working relationship had been established between the British authorities in India and Jinnah during the Second World War and he was willing to cooperate with Britain on defence matters if Pakistan was created.


Very little attention has been paid so far to the influence of British strategic concerns on India’s partition. Consequently, I thought I would use the recently unsealed documents to make the facts in them available to the public. For this, I researched not only in the Oriental and India Section of the British Library (where David Blake, the curator, was very generous with his time) but also in the Hartley Library in Southampton (where Lord Louis Mountbatten’s archives are kept); the Public Records Office in Kew (to which place most British ministers and Foreign Office officials consigned their papers); the archives of the State Department of the USA (covering the period 1942–48 and containing the correspondence of President Franklin Delano Roosevelt with Prime Minister Winston Churchill and with his special envoys in India at that time); the National Archives in Washington; and the Library of the US Congress.


In 1948, as an ADC to the governor-general, Lord Mountbatten, I became familiar with the main locations where the developments had unfolded in New Delhi and Simla and caught glimpses of some of the players. I also gained insights from my father’s numerous British friends who had played a role in formulating or implementing British policy towards India. Later on, in the 1960s, while dealing with Pakistan affairs as an Indian diplomat in New Delhi and New York, I came face to face with the attitude of the great powers towards India and Pakistan that had their roots in the events of pre-independence India.


The subject is also fascinating because of the little known facts about the unobtrusive pressure the United States exerted on Britain in favour of India’s freedom – and unity – from 1942 onwards. Roosevelt’s object was to evolve a post-war order for Asia free from European colonialism. Churchill trumped this pressure by playing the Muslim, or the Pakistani, card, that the real problem lay in Hindu–Muslim differences about India’s future and not in Britain’s unwillingness to accept self-determination for India. American pressure contributed finally in no small measure in persuading Britain to accept the inevitable in India, though the Indians never really recognized this contribution.


The archives are also engrossing because the Indian leaders’ conversations with, and written communications to, the viceroy were meticulously recorded by the British and give details of their views and tactics, which do not fully emerge from the Indian records. The Indian nationalists’ miscalculations, their upholding ideals divorced from realities and their inexperience in the field of international politics emerge in their own words in the records. It is therefore also a cautionary tale.


The subject is surely also of topical interest. With the end of the Cold War, the retreat of Russia from its Central Asian territories and the deployment of the US forces in strength in the Persian Gulf, the importance of Pakistan as a strategic partner in the Great Game against Russia began to decrease. On the other hand, Al-Qaida’s attacks on the World Trade Center towers in New York and on the Pentagon in Washington on 11 September 2001 brought into sharp focus the menace of Islamic terrorism and the use of Islam for political purposes, i.e., political Islam. The Taliban Government in Afghanistan was set up with the military and diplomatic support of Pakistan. It provided shelter to Al-Qaida and to Osama bin Laden. The Taliban and bin Laden were influenced by the tenets preached by Indian-born Abdul Al Mawdudi, the leader of the Jamaat-i-Islami, Pakistan, who advocated a government strictly based on the Shariat, a clash of civilizations and jihad against non-believers. Many of the roots of Islamic terrorism sweeping the world today lie buried in the partition of India.


The successful use of religion by the British to fulfil political and strategic objectives in India was replicated by the Americans in building up the Islamic jihadis in Afghanistan for the same purpose, of keeping the Soviets at bay. There is no gainsaying that nations will ever stop taking advantage of whoever or whatever comes in handy to achieve their immediate vital goals, not the least the US using the Pakistan military to counter the growing influence of the increasing jihadis in Pakistan. Or that the Great Game will not be played out again in Central Asia with different issues at stake and with different sets of partners. However, the Western policies of exploiting political Islam to pressurize India have run their course. The improvement in Indo–US relations since the mid-1990s is the result of these changes in the strategic picture.


Britain was bound to protect its strategic and economic interests from the damaging consequences of its withdrawal from its vast two-century-old Empire in India. How this was done by outmanoeuvring the Indian leaders and partitioning India is the theme of this untold story.
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The Great Game


THE AGREEMENT TO PARTITION INDIA WAS ANNOUNCED IN DELHI ON 3 June 1947. The following week the British Labour Party’s Annual Conference was held in Margate in Britain. There, addressing the delegates, Ernest Bevin, the British foreign secretary, stated that the division of India ‘would help to consolidate Britain in the Middle East.’1


On the day Bevin spoke, Krishna Menon was staying with Pandit Jawaharlal Nehru at 7, York Road in Delhi. Settled in London, Menon then headed the India League in the UK, was a member of the British Labour Party and the sole interlocutor on behalf of Nehru with the British socialist leaders. He was the first Indian whom Lord Louis Mountbatten sought out on being appointed the viceroy of India in March 1947. Menon’s ego had then not inflated to the extent that was to warp his thinking and judgement after Nehru made him defence minister. Referring to Bevin’s remark, Menon wrote to Lord Mountbatten at the Viceroy’s House on 14 June, in long hand, as follows (whether or not he did so after consulting Nehru is not clear from this letter):




Is this frontier [the northwest of India abutting Afghanistan and Iran] still the hinterland of the Imperial strategy? Does Britain still think in terms of being able to use this territory and all that follows from it? There is considerable amount of talking in this way; and if Kashmir, for one reason or another, chooses to be in Pakistan, that is a further development in this direction. I do not know of British policy in this matter. I do not know whether you would know it either. But if this be the British intent, this is tragic.... As it becomes more evident, the attitude of India would be resentful and Britain’s hold on Pakistan would not improve it. I think I have said enough. Perhaps a bit too much.2





Menon was raising two important questions. One, whether the British strategy was to use West Pakistan and the princely state of Kashmir as bases to contain the perceived Soviet ambitions towards the warm waters of the Indian Ocean, Afghanistan and the Persian Gulf, as the northwestern region of undivided India had been used for the same purpose for over a century. And two, whether British policy in this regard was so subterranean that even the viceroy of India was kept in the dark about it.


[image: illustration]


After the czars had incorporated the Muslim sultanates of Khokand, Bokhara and Khiva, including the cities of Tashkand and Samarkand, into their empire in the 1860s and 1870s, that brought Russia’s frontier to within a few hundred miles of India (in Kashmir). The northwest frontier of India had become, for the British, the most sensitive of all the frontiers of their vast Empire. And it was here that the pick of the British Indian Army was quartered (and where, incidentally, Winston Churchill had served with the Malakand Field Force in 1898). The British had fought three wars in Afghanistan, incorporated in the 1880s parts of eastern Afghanistan into the North West Frontier Province and Baluchistan (now in Pakistan), built a railway network to the Khyber and Bolan Passes leading to Afghanistan, helped the Dogra Rajput ruler of Jammu under their paramountcy to extend his rule into Kashmir right up to the Sinkiang border, constructed a road from Gilgit in Hunza in northern Kashmir through the 13,000-feet-high Mintaka Pass in the Karakoram mountains to Kashgar in Sinkiang, posted agents there to monitor Russian activities across the border in Uzbekistan and the Pamirs, and bribed and threatened the Shahs of Persia – all in order to keep the areas of India’s western approaches from slipping under Russian influence.
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The British conquest of India, from Bengal (in the east) to the west and north in the nineteenth century, had matched the Russian advance in Central Asia from their heartlands, to the south and east, towards the warm waters of the Indian Ocean. Each of them raised the bogey of the other’s expansion to press on further and further, till they stopped on either side of Afghanistan, which, by the beginning of the twentieth century, became the buffer between the two empires. According to one source: ‘The Indian revolt or the Great Mutiny of 1857 had heightened British fears of rebellion, conspiracies, whole wars and possible foreign provocations. Amongst likely foreign culprits in the 1860s there was but a single important suspect, the Empire of Russia.’3 For strategists such as Sir Henry Rawlinson, president of the Royal Geographical and Asiatic Societies, Member of Parliament and holding a lifetime seat in the new five-member India Council: ‘If the Czar’s officers acquire a foothold in Kabul the disquieting effect will be prodigious. Every native ruler throughout northern India who either has, or fancies he has, a grievance, or is even cramped or incommoded by our orderly Government, will begin intriguing with the Russians; worse, Afghanistan possesses a machinery of agitation singularly adapted for acting on the seething, fermenting, festering, mass of Muslim hostility in India.’4 (The Muslim was then the British enemy in India, not the Hindu, as later. It was after all the Mughal Empire that the British had smashed while conquering India.)


There was, however, another view, which, along with natural British caution, had kept those subscribing to the forward school in check. ‘The less the Afghans see us, less they will dislike us’,5 observed General Frederick Roberts, the conqueror of Kabul. ‘India’s security lay in the quality of British rule and the contentment of the Raj’s subjects and not in foreign adventures’,6 contended Sir John Lawrence, the future governor-general.


In Russia too there was no dearth of believers in a forward policy. ‘The position of Russia in Central Asia’, declared Foreign Minister Prince Aleksandr Mikaylovich Gorchakov (in St. Petersburg), ‘is that of civilized States which are brought into contact with half savage, nomad populations, possessing no fixed organization, or border security and trade relations with whom impel the civilized States to exert a certain authority…they respect only “visible and palpable force”.’7 And Fyodor Dostoyevsky, writing in the Citizen, a Petersburg journal, in 1881, exulted: ‘Not only did Russia need markets and lands but she would bring science and railroads to a backward people. Asia was to Russia what undiscovered America was to Europe. In Europe we are Asiatics whereas in Asia we too are Europeans. Civilizing mission in Asia will bribe our spirits and drive us thither. It is only necessary that the movement should start. Build only two railroads: begin one in Siberia and then to Central Asia. And at once you will see the consequences...if one fears England then one should sit at home and move nowhere.’8 Russia had actually gone into Uzbekistan for its cotton, the supplies of which commodity from the southern states of America had been blocked due to the hostilities in the American Civil War.


The intense rivalry between the two most powerful empires in Asia in the nineteenth century was termed by Count K. V. Nesselrode, the foreign minister of Russia, as the ‘tournament of shadows’, because there was no direct Anglo–Russian clash of arms. Rudyard Kipling used the phrase ‘the Great Game’ in his novel Kim, which passed into common usage.


[image: illustration]


The first decade of the twentieth century saw the German eastward thrust, symbolized by the attempt to establish the Berlin–Baghdad railway. This move brought Britain and Russia together in the Entente of 1907 for a while. Even so, the British had to foil Russian attempts to annex northern Persia and to persuade the Persians not to let them build a railway line from Tabriz (now in Iran) to Baluchistan (now in Pakistan) or accept the Russian demand to secede territory 100 miles wide on either side.


After taking over power in Russia in 1917, almost the first thing the communists did in the field of foreign policy was to call a ‘Congress of Eastern Peoples’ at Baku (situated on the Caspian Sea) in 1920. There they spread the message of fraternity to the non-European people of their neighbouring countries to the south: Turkey, Persia and Afghanistan. Thereafter, the Soviet Union withdrew territorial claims against these countries; in fact, Moscow offered them economic cooperation and signed treaties of friendship and non-aggression with each of them. Only Afghanistan under King Amanullah was influenced by this policy. And a direct air link was established in 1927 between Tashkand and Kabul. Amanullah fell in 1929 after he tried to go too far in emulating Mustafa Kemal Ataturk of Turkey in modernizing Afghanistan’s Islamic society. This resulted in a backlash by conservative forces that helped the British.


The First World War (1914–18) resulted in the destruction, at Allied hands, of the most powerful Muslim state, the Ottoman Empire, the seat of the Khalifa, the titular head of the Muslims. This Muslim Empire had acted as a rampart against Russian influence spreading southwards. The British now decided to recruit the Arabs freed from Ottoman rule for the Great Game. The exploits of T.E. Lawrence provide a glimpse into how British agents rallied the desert Arabs. Britain carved out the states of Saudi Arabia, Iraq and Jordan from the remnants of the Ottoman Empire and established more direct control over the territories on the southern side of the Persian Gulf, then known as the Trucial States (now called the Emirates). The British presence in the Trucial States was partly financed by the British Government of India, to which the British political agents posted in these territories also reported. To create the kingdom of Saudi Arabia, the Saudi family was brought from the Nedj desert and installed in power to rule a large part of the Arabian Peninsula and also to guard the holy places. The sons of the Sheikh of Mecca, Faizal and Abdullah, were made the kings of Iraq (the old Mesopotamia), and the newly created state of Jordan, respectively, Kuwait being detached from the former.


The First World War had demonstrated the indispensability of oil in fighting a modern war. Within British reach lay only two areas with big oil fields: Mesopotamia and Persia. After Faisal was installed as king in Iraq, the Iraq Petroleum Company was formed. It contained the predecessors to Exxon and Mobile, Shell, BP and Total (a French company). The great depression that engulfed the world in the 1930s discouraged investment generally. The discovery of oil in Texas, after the war, led to a further postponement in developing Iraq’s oil fields. In 1961, the nationalist coup in Iraq resulted in the nationalization of the Iraq Petroleum Company. After Saddam Hussein came to power in in the late 1970s, he diverted the country’s funds to build a military machine rather than use them to develop Iraq’s oil resources. According to a recent estimate by the Italian oil company, ENI, Iraq’s oil reserves may be nearly 300 billion barrels rather than the generally accepted figure of 125 billion barrels.
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Persia lay along the soft Muslim underbelly of the Soviet Union. During the course of the Second World War, Britain entered southern Persia and the Soviet Union northern Persia to jointly provide a route by which war material could be supplied by the Allies to the USSR and also to check a possible German thrust beyond the Caucasus. But at the end of the war in 1945 the Soviet Union, while withdrawing from the country, left behind a puppet regime in the Azai area of northern Persia along its border. The territories further north, where the Baku oil field is situated, had already been seized by the czar in the nineteenth century itself. British fears of Soviet ambitions were further fuelled when Joseph Stalin announced in 1946 that his country’s requirement of oil had doubled since 1941. ‘British interest in southern Persia was centred around oil’, Ardershir Zahedi, the son-in-law of the Shah Reza Pahlavi, who became the foreign minister of Iran, once explained to me. ‘In the 1920s they had wanted to detach the Iranian province of Khuzestan on the Shat-al-Arab where the British Petroleum Company held concessions and its Abedan refinery is situated and place it under a separate ruler, as they ultimately succeeded to do in Kuwait. Your [Indian] troops led by British officers were used in the region during wars.’ Zahedi added: ‘It was only after Mossadeq* nationalized the British Petroleum Company that the British grip on Iran was shaken. After Mossadeq turned pro-communist and was overthrown, a consortium of American and Dutch oil companies together with the British company was formed. This reduced British influence. John Foster Dulles, the US secretary of state (1953–59) was sympathetic to Iran and after that country joined the USA and Britain together with Pakistan, Iraq and Turkey in the CENTO military pact, the nibbling away of Iran’s frontiers by the other great powers stopped.’


At the end of the war this is how a venerable British player of the Great Game viewed the prospects:




The strategic movements of the Allies in Iraq and Persia in the Second World War were made possible from the Indian base…. The importance of the Gulf grows greater, not less, as the need for fuel expands, the world contracts and the shadows lengthen from the north. Its stability can be assured only by the close accord between the States which surround this Muslim lake, an accord underwritten by the Great powers whose interests are engaged.9





In 1943 an Indian scholar had put the British dilemma in a larger perspective:




The victory of the Allies will see the Soviet Union established as the mightiest power on the Eurasian continent. With her enemy in Europe crushed beyond recovery for a generation and Japan with her continental ambitions foiled for a time, Russia will find it easy to resume her southward march, which was interrupted in the nineties of the last century. The Indian Ocean gives her not merely the outlet to the sea for which she has been working for two centuries, but a commanding position on one of the oceanic areas…. Russia no doubt has no desire to annex the territories of other nations; but integral alliances with other nations organized on the basis of Soviet republics, is her policy in Asia as well as in Europe.… If India passes into the orbit of the Soviet Union and finds a stable position in that alliance, the latter, already dominant in the Balkans and Central Europe, will become a world organization, such as Lenin could not have dreamed of: irresistible in its power, unequalled in its economic resources and manpower, and having a territorial basis spread over practically the whole of Asia and Europe. The eclipse of the British Empire would be the natural and inevitable outcome.10
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Germany surrendered on 5 May 1945. The same day, Prime Minister Winston Churchill ordered an appraisal of ‘the long-term policy required to safeguard the strategic interests of the British Empire in India and the Indian Ocean’ by the Post-Hostilities Planning Staff of the War Cabinet. And, on 19 May, this top-secret appraisal report was placed before him. The central point of this report was that Britain must retain its military connection with the subcontinent so as to ward off the Soviet Union’s threat to the area.


The report cited four reasons for the strategic importance of India to Britain:




Its value as a base from which forces located there could be suitably placed for deployment both within the Indian Ocean area and in the Middle East and the Far East; a transit point for air and sea communications; a large reserve of manpower of good fighting quality; and from the northwest of which British air power could threaten Soviet military installations.11





The report also mentions the possibility of detaching Baluchistan from India. (The Baluchistan coast lies to the north of the Gulf of Oman that leads to the Persian Gulf.)


In each and every subsequent appreciation of the British chiefs of staff from then on till India’s independence that is available for examination, the emphasis was on the need to retain the British military connection with the subcontinent, irrespective of the political and constitutional changes there. Equally, they stressed the special importance of the northwest of India in this context.


It may be noted that the idea of partitioning India in some form, to safeguard British strategic interests, had started to circulate in Whitehall in Churchill’s time. Defence and security considerations were therefore uppermost in the minds of British leaders as they considered withdrawal from India. However, sufficient attention has not been paid to this vital factor by historians and political analysts, perhaps because security matters were not debated publicly in Britain.


[image: illustration]


On 18 April 1946, the British chiefs of staff, namely, Field Marshal Viscount Allenbrooke, Air Marshal Arthur William Tedder and Admiral Rhoderick McGrigor, again reported to the British cabinet: ‘Recent developments made it appear that Russia is our most probable potential enemy.’12 And, to meet its threat ‘areas on which our war effort will be based and without which it would not be possible for us to fight at all would include India’.13 Moreover, since Soviet ‘policy at present appears to extend her influence to further strategic areas by all means short of major war…we should on no account weaken ourselves by surrendering our influence in the areas of major strategic importance’.14 Another reason for not totally evacuating from India, they noted, was that ‘air fields in northwest India are, except for those in Iraq, the nearest we have to certain important Russian industrial areas in Ural and western Siberia’.15 They referred to the development of guided missiles that further augmented the menace of the Soviet Air Force operating from the Central Asian plateau. They also mentioned the importance of India as an essential air link to the Far East as, at that point of time, ‘few existing types of aircraft [had] sufficient range for long hops’.16


The increase in the range and destructive capacity of air power over naval power was demonstrated by the sinking of the British battleships Repulse and the Prince of Wales by shore-based Japanese aircraft immediately after they left the Singapore naval base for the high seas at the start of the war with Japan. As such the Soviet control of the landmass of Central Asia, where its air power could be based, had acquired much greater significance in strategic calculations.


The commander-in-chief in India, Field Marshal Claude Auchinleck, expressed similar views in a note, which Lord Archibald Wavell, the viceroy, forwarded to the secretary of state on 13 July 1946. Among other things, this note emphasized: ‘The principal advantage that Britain and the Commonwealth derive from control of India is strategic.’17 The C-in-C’s note further stated that the greatest asset was India’s contribution of two million soldiers. It added that naval bases in India were indispensable for the protection of oil supplies from Persia and the Persian Gulf and its air bases there a necessary link in the Commonwealth air communications to the Far East. The note concluded: ‘We [ought to] consider should independent India get influenced by hostile powers such as Russia we could not maintain our power to move freely by sea and air in the northern part of the Indian Ocean areas which is of supreme importance to the British Commonwealth.’18


The only difference between these reports and the report of the Post-Hostilities Planning Staff of Churchill’s War Cabinet was that the assumption, in the latter, that Britain could continue to be responsible for India for another decade was absent. Soon after, General Lord Hastings Ismay, Churchill’s chief of staff during the Second World War (at that time attached to the British Cabinet Secretariat), declared at a meeting of the chiefs of staff: ‘[It was] tolerably clear that if we evacuate India nothing would remain to prevent Russian infiltration with the consequent possibility of total disruption of the country very soon afterwards.’ General Mosley Mayne, who chaired the meeting, ‘agreed entirely’.


Lord Wavell, viceroy from 1943 to early 1947, was among the first of the British strategists to grasp the following interrelated factors:




1.   India’s primary usefulness to Britain was in the field of defence and not any more as a market.


2.   Because of its fading power in India, Britain would have to withdraw from India sooner than later after the Second World War.


3.   The Congress Party leaders, who would rule India after the British withdrew, were unlikely to cooperate with Britain on military matters and foreign policy, whereas the Muslim League Party, which wanted a partition of India, would be willing to do so.


4.   The breach to be caused in Britain’s capacity to defend the Middle East and the Indian Ocean area could be plugged if the Muslim League were to succeed in separating India’s strategic northwest from the rest of the country, a realizable goal considering the close ties that Lord [Victor Alexander John Hope] Linlithgow, Wavell’s predecessor, had built up with the Muslim League leader Mohammad Ali Jinnah during the Second World War.





Lord Wavell had a long discussion with Prime Minister Churchill in March 1945 in London. What was discussed between the two was not recorded except that Wavell noted in his diary that the prime minister had visualized the division of India. That this discussion reinforced his own inclinations in the matter is evident from the course he followed in India immediately thereafter.


Field Marshal Auchinleck had a different view. He held that the unity of the British-built Indian Army, led by British officers, was the surest guarantee against any potential Soviet mischief in the region. Having experienced firsthand the satisfactory cooperation between British and Indian officers, despite some racial problems, as well as the lack of communal animosity among men of various faiths in the Army, he was confident that the British, the Hindus, the Sikhs and the Muslims could pull together in a united India. The chiefs of staff in London supported Auchinleck’s view. But this view did not take into account the fact that the Indian National Congress leaders, who would form the government of independent India, were determined to work out their own foreign policy and defence priorities, unhampered by British concerns. In these circumstances, how could the Army of a united India be of any use to Commonwealth defence? As 1946 went by, Wavell’s point of view was being increasingly accepted in British military circles. Nehru’s oath in the Constituent Assembly to declare India a sovereign independent republic (i.e., to cut off its connection with the Commonwealth) helped in opening their eyes.
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By early 1947 the British chiefs of staff had become enthusiastic proponents of Pakistan that would cooperate with Britain in military matters. On 12 May 1947 General Leslie Hollis wrote to Prime Minister Clement Attlee highlighting the views of the chiefs of staff, who wanted ‘to deal with…western India* first of all. From the strategic point of view there are overwhelming arguments in favour of a western Pakistan remaining in the Commonwealth [i.e., maintaining defence ties with Britain].’19 He put forward the following points to buttress his views:




1.   We should obtain important strategic facilities [such as] the port of Karachi and air bases in North West India and the support of Muslim manpower.


2.   We should be able to ensure the continued independence and integrity [of] Afghanistan.


3.   We should increase our prestige and improve our position throughout the Muslim World, and demonstrate, by the assistance Pakistan would receive, the advantages of links with the British Commonwealth.


4.   Our link with Pakistan might have a stabilizing effect on India as a whole, since an attack by Hindustan on Pakistan would involve Hindustan in war, not with Pakistan alone, but [also] with the British Commonwealth.


5.   The position on the Frontier might well become more settled since relations between the tribes and Pakistan would be easier than they could be with a united India.20







General Hollis added:


Quite apart from the positive arguments in favour of this course we would draw your attention to the sorry results of refusing an application by Mr Jinnah – which would, in effect, amount to ejecting a numerous and loyal people from the British Commonwealth. We should probably have lost all chance of ever getting strategic facilities anywhere in India (the subcontinent); we should have shattered our reputation in the rest of the Muslim world and could not look for the continued cooperation of Middle Eastern countries. From the military point of view such results would be extremely bad.21





To give a flavour of the discussions that resulted in the aforementioned recommendations, are quoted below remarks made by the British Air, Naval and Army chiefs of staff at their meeting. Air Marshal Tedder observed:




We required certain strategic facilities in India, no matter how small these facilities ultimately were. Some were better than none.22





Next, Sir John Cunningham, the Naval chief, speaking on whether or not Britain should retain a military link with Pakistan, if India walked out of the British camp, asserted:




It would be insidious to refuse the application of people who had been loyal to the Commonwealth for many years…the result of such a refusal would extend throughout the whole Muslim world.23





And Field Marshal Bernard Law Montgomery, the chief of the Imperial General Staff, expressed the following views:




From the broad aspect of Commonwealth strategy it would be a tremendous asset if Pakistan, particularly the northwest, remained within the Commonwealth. The bases, airfields and ports in northwest India would be invaluable to Commonwealth defence. Moreover our presence would make for better civil administration, since British advisers, both civil and military, would ensure the efficiency of the [Pakistan] Provinces and might well attract Hindu States [India and independent princely states] into adopting a similar relationship with the Commonwealth. In addition we should be in a stronger position to support the integrity of Afghanistan…and the sooner this happened the better.24





Shortly afterwards, the chiefs of staff prepared another report, which emphasized that British strategic interests in the subcontinent should be focused on Pakistan:




The area of Pakistan [West Pakistan or the northwest of India] is strategically the most important in the continent of India and the majority of our strategic requirements could be met…by an agreement with Pakistan alone. We do not therefore consider that failure to obtain the agreement with India [Hindustan] would cause us to modify any of our requirements…25





At this stage, the hope that some large princely states would become independent was still being entertained by the British military:




At first sight it might appear that there would be little object in obtaining air transit rights from Pakistan if we have no similar rights in India [Hindustan]. It may however be possible…to use the territory of independent [princely] Indian States. We will in any case require the right for military aircraft to use bases in Hindustan.26
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Ernest Bevin’s remarks referred to in Krishna Menon’s letter to the viceroy (mentioned at the beginning of this chapter) show that the British Labour Party Government, with Clement Attlee as the prime minister, had closed ranks as far as the policy to partition India was concerned. Generally more sympathetic to India and the Congress Party than Churchill’s Government, Attlee and his government, nevertheless, swung around to support the partition of India basically to ensure the defence of Britain’s vital interests after the war.


The following unsigned document reflects views that had been gaining ascendancy as India’s independence approached. The crux is contained in the following summary:




The Indus Valley, western Punjab and Baluchistan [the northwest] are vital to any strategic plans for the defence of [the] all-important Muslim belt…the oil supplies of the Middle East. If one looks upon this area as a strategic wall (against Soviet expansionism) the five most important bricks in the wall are: Turkey, Iran, Iraq, Afghanistan and Pakistan.


Only through the open ocean port of Karachi could the opponents of the Soviet Union take immediate and effective countermeasures. The sea approaches to all other countries will entail navigation in enclosed waters directly menaced by Russian air fleets…not only of the sea lanes of approach, but also the ports of disembarkation.


If the British Commonwealth and the United States of America are to be in a position to defend their vital interests in the Middle East, then the best and most stable area from which to conduct this defence is from Pakistan territory.


Pakistan [is] the keystone of the strategic arch of the wide and vulnerable waters of the Indian Ocean.27





Who can say that this assessment was not prescient? For, after partition, Pakistan, together with Iran, Iraq, Turkey and Britain first joined the Baghdad Pact and later CENTO (which the USA also joined) to form the brick wall against Soviet ambitions. Later, Pakistan entered into a bilateral military pact with Britain’s closest ally, the USA, and provided an air base in Peshawar in the North West Frontier Province to the CIA to enable U2 planes to keep a hawk’s eye on military preparations in the Soviet Union. (The existence of this secret base came to light only in 1961 after the US pilot, Gary Powers, who took off from there, was shot down over the Soviet Union.)


In a later and very important ‘chukker’ of the continuing Great Game, Pakistan, in the 1980s, provided the base from which the US could eject the Soviet forces from Afghanistan, precipitating the break-up of the Soviet Union. If with the establishment of American forces in strength in the Persian Gulf and the prospects of the same happening in the former Muslim territories of the USSR, Western dependence on Pakistan to check Russia has diminished, a half a century’s run is all one can reasonably hope for, from the best of strategies.
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Krishna Menon, writing in June 1947 to Lord Mountbatten, had wondered whether Britain was following a hidden agenda, whose lid had been slightly raised by Bevin in Margate. Two weeks before Menon wrote to the viceroy, two US diplomats, Ely E. Palmer (envoy extraordinary and minister plenipotentiary to Afghanistan) and R.S. Leach of the State Department, passed through Peshawar, the capital of the North West Frontier Province of British India. They were invited to dine with Sir Olaf Caroe, the British governor of the province. On 26 May 1947 Palmer and Leach reported to the State Department in Washington the substance of their conversation with Sir Olaf. Their report said that the governor asked them to come a little before dinner ‘so that they could have a quiet chat’. During this chat, according to the diplomats, ‘the Governor first spoke about the “correct” British policy looking towards a united India’ but then had ‘spoken more frankly’ and had emphasized ‘the great political importance of the North West Frontier Province and Afghanistan’, which he described as ‘the uncertain vestibule’ in future relations between the Soviet Union and India. He also spoke ‘of the danger of Soviet penetration of Gilgit, Chitral and Swat’ (all situated on Kashmir’s northern border) and then significantly added: ‘He would not be unfavorable to the establishment of a separate Pakistan.’28


Sir Olaf, before his appointment as governor of the NWFP, had been foreign secretary in Delhi from 1939 to 1946 and hence the principal adviser to two viceroys, Linlithgow and Wavell, on British India’s policy to forestall Soviet expansionism in Afghanistan, Sinkiang and the region of the Persian Gulf. Sir Olaf was really trying to use the Americans’ presence in Peshawar to ‘educate’ the State Department on the usefulness, from a Western point of view, of the creation of Pakistan and Kashmir’s adherence to it, as seen by a person with experience in that region. And, in the process, he had let the cat out of the bag.


After his retirement, the British Foreign Office sent Sir Olaf on a lecture tour of America. This tour was, in his own words, an ‘attempt to catch and save a way of thought known to many who saw these things from the East, but now in danger of being lost, in the hope that new workers in the vineyards may find in it something worth regard’.29 In America he lectured on the theme (later collated and published in his book Wells of Power) that the Karachi port and the coastline of Baluchistan standing at the mouth of the Persian Gulf were ‘vital to its [British] reckoning’. The British base in India – now in Pakistan – had maintained stability in the Middle East since 1801, when Tsar Paul’s ambitions first blew the whistle. Russian pressure – ‘silent, concentrated, perpetual’ – had predated communism, ‘the Indian anchor’ had been lost, but Pakistan – ‘a new India’ – had emerged, a Muslim state that could help to establish a defence community of Muslim states and ‘show the way for reconciliation between the Western and Islamic models’. Caroe then posed the question: ‘Will Islam stand up to communism?’ The former foreign secretary of the British Government of India was later to boast that the US secretary of state, John Foster Dulles’ phrase ‘the northern tier’ and his own ‘the northern screen’ were ‘the same idea really’.


It was midway during the Second World War that the British authorities realized that they would have to quit India, their military base for over fifty years, sooner than later. Their thoughts then turned to closing the gap that would result in a Commonwealth defence against a Soviet move to the south, towards the ‘the wells of power’ and the Indian Ocean. To find a solution, they looked for available opportunities and openings in India in the hallowed British tradition described by Churchill as follows:




We [British] do not think that logic and clear-cut principles are necessarily the sole key to what ought to be done in swiftly changing and indefinable situations…. We assign a larger importance to opportunism and improvisation, seeking rather to live and conquer in accordance with the unfolding events than to aspire to dominate them by fundamental decisions.30





So now our attention must turn to the ground realities in India as they obtained at the beginning of the war, which set in motion the events that led to Indian independence and partition.
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The Anglo–Muslim League Alliance


IN 1949 I WAS CONVALESCING AFTER AN OPERATION IN THE HOME outside London of my father’s friend Sir Paul Patrick. He had been a former assistant undersecretary at the India Office before it was abolished after India gained independence. One day Sir Paul told me that soon after Adolf Hitler had overrun France in the summer of 1940 and an invasion of the British Isles was imminent, Gandhiji, during a meeting with Lord Linlithgow, the viceroy, at Simla, stunned him by saying that the British should have the courage to let Germany occupy Britain: ‘Let them take possession of your beautiful Island, if Hitler chooses to occupy your homes, vacate them, if he does not give you free passage out, allow yourself, man, woman and child to be slaughtered.’ Sir Paul then asked me whether Gandhi was turning senile by that time. Faced with such an impracticable – even unethical – attitude of the leader of the Indian National Congress Party, no wonder, Sir Paul said that Lord Linlithgow could not afford to lose the cooperation and support of Jinnah and the Muslim League to ensure the successful mobilization of Indian resources for the Second World War. I must have told Sir Paul some time that we youth in India believed that the British had gone out of their way to support the Muslim League or something to that effect. And he was proffering an explanation for British policy to the son of his friend.


Maulana Abul Kalam Azad, in his book India Wins Freedom refers to this incident and adds to what Sir Paul told me, as follows: ‘It was normally his (the Viceroy’s) practice to ring the bell for the ADC to come and take Gandhiji to his car. On this occasion he was so surprised that he neither rang the bell nor said good-bye. The result was that Gandhiji walked away from a silent and bewildered Viceroy and had to find his way out to his car all by himself. Gandhiji reported this incident to me with his characteristic humour.’1


This incident took place on 29 June 1940. However, misunderstandings between the British and the Congress Party, the main political party fighting for India’s freedom, had started to build up right from the beginning of the Second World War. At the time Britain declared war on Germany in September 1939, even though the Central Government in Delhi was in the viceroy’s hands, the Congress Party ministries were running the governments in eight out of eleven British provinces* of India and were the foremost partners of Britain in governing the country. They exercised authority over three-fourths of the population of British India and the territories they governed included the British-built port cities of Madras and Bombay, the old Mughal capital of Agra, the ancient cities of Banaras (now called Varanasi) and Patliputra (now called Patna), Lucknow, Ahmedabad and Nagpur and the Pathan stronghold of Peshawar on the Indian side of the Khyber Pass from where the British had played the Great Game to restrain Russian penetration into Central Asia.


The nationalists had taken over power in the aforementioned provinces after their triumph in the provincial elections of 1937 held under the new constitution for an All-India Federation introduced in 1935. This federal scheme provided for self-government at the provincial level and a bicameral legislature at the Centre in which both the eleven British provinces and the 350 princely states* would be represented. The scheme was launched with the consent of Jinnah and the Muslim League. In the Federal Legislature the princes’ nominees – none elected, all appointed – were to occupy 110 out of 260 seats in the Upper Chamber and 125 out of 375 seats in the Lower House. Since the elected representatives from British India would belong to various, mutually antagonistic, political parties, the princes’ ‘battalions’, if they remained united, could hold the key to the formation and running of the Central Government. According to Sir Paul’s remarks to me, His Majesty’s Government’s idea was to install a conservative Indian Government at the Centre that would be able to accommodate essential British interests, besides building up the unity of the country and ensuring its steady progress towards dominion status. It was a recipe for gradualism and for the retention of British influence.
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The Federal Legislature and thus the unitary scheme, however, remained stillborn because the Indian princes did not accede to it. Churchill had denounced the scheme in the British Parliament as a ‘gigantic quilt of jumbled crochet work…built by pygmies’. He described the notion that India one day would become a dominion as ‘criminally mischievous’. He then used intermediaries to travel to India to persuade the princes to stay out of the Federal Legislature, an endeavour that the officers of the Indian Political Service, who dealt with the princes, quietly supported. Had the princes joined the All-India Federation, whatever its shortcomings, a momentum for a unitary India would have been launched and the British would have continued to look towards the princes rather than towards Jinnah. And probably the partition of India would not have taken place.


Even so, the introduction of self-government in the British provinces had changed the psychological atmosphere in the country. And this was seen as an important step in Gandhiji’s peaceful ‘reconquest of India’. The provincial elections had been a setback for Jinnah’s Muslim League, which could not get even one-fourth of the seats reserved for Muslims.


The irony of the situation was that within two months of the outbreak of the Second World War, the Congress Party had given up all its gains by resigning from the governments in the provinces. The reasons given by the Congress Party for this grave step were that India had been dragged into the war without any consultation with its elected representatives and that their demand for a declaration about India’s freedom after the war and for associating them in some manner or the other with the Central Government in the meantime had been rejected. If the aim of the exercise was to pressurize the British to grant more power to the nationalists forthwith, the result was rather different from that anticipated. Their resignations reduced the British dependence on the Congress Party to mobilize Indian resources for the war and made it less necessary for them to accommodate the party’s demands. In other words, the resignations reduced the nationalists’ bargaining power with the British authorities. Further, the Congress Party’s abdication created a political vacuum in the country that gave an opportunity to the Muslim League, defeated in the elections, to stage a comeback through the back door, by making promises to Britain to cooperate in the war effort. Moreover, it created doubts about the nationalists’ commitment to the fight against Hitler and prejudiced opinion against them.


‘Had it [the Congress Party] not resigned from its position of vantage in the Provinces the course of Indian history might have been very different.’2 So says Vapal Panguni Menon, the distinguished civil servant and adviser on constitutional reforms to three viceroys – Linlithgow, Wavell and Mountbatten – in his book The Transfer of Power in India. He further says:




By resigning the Congress Party showed a lamentable political wisdom. There was little chance of its being put out of office: the British Government would surely have hesitated to incur the odium of dismissing Ministries, which had the overwhelming support of the people. Nor could it have resisted a unanimous demand for a change at the centre, a demand which would have been all the more irresistible after the entry of Japan into the war. In any case it is clear that but for the resignation of the Congress Ministries, Jinnah and the Muslim League would have never attained the position they did.3





One of the serious long-term repercussions of the Congress’ decision to quit was losing control over the strategic North West Frontier Province. Had this Muslim-majority province remained under Congress Party rule between 1940 and 1946, the plan for the partition of India could not have been put forward. Without the inclusion of the NWFP within its borders, Pakistan would have remained an enclave within India and would have lost its most important asset to the West, that of its strategic value. The inhabitants of this province, mainly Pathans, were under the spell of Khan Abdul Ghaffar Khan, a Congress Party stalwart popularly known as the Frontier Gandhi. The breaking of his spell enabled Jinnah, with British help, to gain a foothold in the province, as we shall soon see.
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Jinnah, ensconced in his villa in the tree-clad Malabar Hill in Bombay overlooking the Arabian Sea, was so delighted at the Congress Governments’ resignations from the provincial governments that the words ‘Himalayan blunder’ escaped his lips. And he declared 22 December 1939 as ‘Deliverance Day’ – deliverance from Congress rule – and immediately went on the offensive to win by diplomacy and bluster what he could never have obtained at that time by popular vote, even of the Muslims of India.


During the First World War, Mahatma Gandhi had supported the Allied war effort. This move had created a soft corner for him in many British hearts, despite Winston Churchill’s continuous jibes that he was a charlatan and a humbug. Gandhiji was the first Indian leader the viceroy, Lord Linlithgow, invited for consultations after the start of the Second World War. The meeting took place on 4 September 1939 in Simla, the summer capital of the British Raj, high up in the Himalayas.




Mr Gandhi explained to me in moving terms the depth of his affection for England and told me that the idea of any enemy defacing Westminster Abbey or Westminster Hall or any monuments of our civilization was one which was intolerable to him and he contemplated the present struggle in his own words with an English heart. I was greatly struck with the depth of his real feeling, his emotion being at times so marked as to make it impossible for him to continue with what he was saying.4





So wired the viceroy to Lord Zetland (Laurence John Dumley Dundas), the secretary of state for India in Neville Chamberlain’s Government. The viceroy added that Gandhiji had also assured him that he was ready to help with the recruitment of Indians into the Army, as he had done during the First World War.


The British Government received its first shock when Gandhiji failed to get these sentiments translated into the Congress Party’s policy; in fact, quite the opposite happened. The Congress leaders met to discuss their attitude to the developing situation at Wardha, Gandhiji’s camp in western India, a few days after the above conversation. Jawaharlal Nehru, who had been touring China and had rushed back for the meeting, led with the following argument: ‘How can a person bound in chains fight? And if Britain is indeed fighting to uphold freedom should it not logically free India?’ He was not a man to knowingly think of, or attempt, blackmail. The provocation for this rhetoric was another. He had visited Europe the previous year and was still seething with anger against the ‘class interest-ridden’ government of Prime Minister Chamberlain of Britain. Nehru blamed this government for conniving at Francisco Franco’s takeover of Spain, for appeasing ‘fascist Hitler’ at Munich and strangulating the Socialist International, the company of whose members in Europe he had mostly kept. And this was Nehru’s way of getting back at Chamberlain, forgetting that once Britain had declared war on Hitler, opposing its war effort on whatever account, in practical terms meant aiding the very fascists he so detested. His anger against His Majesty’s Government (HMG) abated only after the fall of France, when England itself was directly menaced.
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Subhash Chandra Bose, a rising star from Bengal and Nehru’s rival in the Congress Party, also supported the policy of opposing Britain. To him ‘Britain’s difficulty was India’s opportunity’. For some years now, he had been opposing the Mahatma’s policy of non-violent non-cooperation as one that was unlikely to yield results and was spoiling to mobilize the masses for a no-holds-barred violent struggle to overthrow British power. A graduate of Cambridge University, like Nehru, Bose was heir to the more revolutionary traditions of Bengal. On his very first meeting with Gandhiji in 1921, he had declared that the Mahatma ‘showed a deplorable lack of clarity in his political aims’. Bose’s popularity amongst the youth was rising. In 1938, to everyone’s surprise, he won the presidentship of the Congress Party, defeating the candidate favoured by Gandhiji. Gandhiji had to work hard to reverse this party decision in the electoral contest the following year. He did so by pushing the equally charismatic, plus a very hard-working and devoted Nehru, to the forefront. In March 1940 Bose formed his own group, the Forward Bloc, and in July 1940 parted company with the Congress Party. Bose, as a result of his subsequent activities perhaps contributed more, in the 1940s, to demoralize the British and break their will to remain in India, than the Congress Party. However, he also contributed to the deepening of the distrust between Britishers and Indians.


Gandhiji was among the few who spoke in favour of unconditional support to Britain in the war at the Congress Party meeting at Wardha. But he failed to press his view in the face of Nehru’s emotional appeal and Bose’s combative stand. The majority of the Congress leaders, though willing to cooperate with Britain against fascism, wanted a definite declaration from the British that, at the end of the war, India would be freed. They could not rid themselves of memories of the brutal suppression of the freedom movement after the First World War, despite the support the nationalists had given Britain when the hostilities were on. They saw the same pattern emerging again, with the viceroy declaring war on India’s behalf without consulting its elected representatives and assuming enabling powers for the duration of the war to interfere in provincial affairs within the competence of the ‘popular’ governments. The compromise decision taken at Wardha, after several days of deliberations, was that Gandhiji should see the viceroy once again and persuade him to make an unequivocal declaration of British intentions to grant freedom to India as soon as the war ended and, in the meantime, to associate the Congress Party with the Central Government. Gandhiji met the viceroy on 26 September, once again taking the train to the distant Himalayas.


Whereas during his first meeting with the viceroy on 4 September 1939 the atmosphere had been warm, when Gandhiji saw Linlithgow on 26 September, he had turned cold. He brusquely told Gandhiji that there was no prospect of His Majesty’s Government agreeing to a declaration of British war aims as demanded by the Congress Party or yielding power at the Centre while Britain was engaged in a life-and-death struggle. ‘It was not a question of fighting for democracy,’ he explained, ‘but of beating Hitler who sought world conquest.’ He added that ‘the Congress was not the only organization to be considered’ because ‘there was also the question of the legitimate real claims of other parties and particularly the Princes and the Muslims’. It was a long meeting, during which Gandhiji made the following pitch, as reported by Linlithgow to Zetland: ‘If we [the British] could make up our minds to buy Congress we should buy the finest propaganda machine in the East.’ It did not move the viceroy. In his report to the secretary of state, he said: ‘Their [Congress’s] objective is to tie the Muslim community and the Princes tight in constitutional bonds imposed in the first instance with our authority and maintained thereafter in their original rigidity by the majority community.’5
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Something had obviously happened between 4 and 26 September 1939. And that was Mohammad Ali Jinnah. Jinnah had met the viceroy immediately after Gandhiji on 4 September. While Gandhiji had offered tears and sympathy, Jinnah offered the viceroy the means to win the war and a clear compact. He pledged ‘the loyalty of the Muslim community everywhere’ (as if he was the sole representative of the Muslims of India) and then, with reference to the Congress ministries in the provinces, told the viceroy: ‘Turn them out at once. Nothing else will bring them to their senses. Their object, though you may not believe it...is nothing less than to destroy both you [the British] and us Muslims. They will never stand by you.’6 And then spelt out his mind:




Muslim areas should be separated from “Hindu India” and run by Muslims in collaboration with Great Britain.7





Jinnah had spoken so candidly to the viceroy because his lieutenant, Khaliq-uz-Zaman, had met Lord Zetland in London a few months earlier. According to Khaliq-uz-Zaman, when he had conveyed to Zetland the desirability of the creation of autonomous Muslim states in the subcontinent that would remain linked with Britain for defence, the British minister showed enough interest to prolong the talk for an hour and a half! The answer Khaliq-uz-Zaman gave to Zetland, when asked about defence, needs to be quoted because it was bound to make the minister feel that the Muslim League would remain dependent upon, and subservient to, Britain: ‘If you want to know (about defence) for the period that you are not in any way connected with the administration of the country, then I beg your Lordship not to put that question to me, for God only knows what will happen to us then.’8


Gandhiji requested Linlithgow to meet Dr Rajendra Prasad, the Congress president, and Jawaharlal Nehru. The viceroy did so on 3 October 1939. Dr Rajendra Prasad argued: ‘If India was to play her part (in the war) she must feel satisfied that she had something to fight for.’ He also asserted that ‘the Muslim League did not represent the mind of Islam’; i.e., Jinnah did not represent all the Muslims. Nehru pressed for a declaration of war aims so as ‘to persuade the people that something big had happened and to produce a sufficient psychological disturbance to produce real enthusiasm for the war’. But then he dwelt at some length on how changes brought about by the war would modify the concept of the Empire itself. This touched a raw nerve in the viceroy, who retorted: ‘If the war was to transform the British Empire, it might make a difference to the fortunes of the Congress as well if they were now to decide to commit themselves to active opposition to Government…. They would be well advised in their own interest to avoid a break.’9
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From then on, the records in the British archives show that with each meeting Linlithgow held with Gandhiji and Jinnah, he gravitated more and more towards the latter. Jinnah’s stand that he would ask his co-religionists to oppose the type of declaration demanded by the Congress Party, on the plea that it would harm Muslim interests, was very convenient for his purpose. It would help stall the Congress Party pressure for the same as well as of those members of the Labour Party in England who desired to accommodate the nationalists.


When Gandhiji met Linlithgow next on 5 October 1939, he unfolded a plan to help Britain and bypass the obstacles created by some of his Congress Party colleagues (that is not generally known to the public). According to Linlithgow’s report to Zetland, Gandhiji began by saying that Nehru maintained that if we obtained freedom, India would have to go in for a first-class army, a large air force, battleships and everything ‘tiptop’, ‘to which he [Gandhi] had told them that if that is where Congress is leading India, I can go no further with them.’ According to Linlithgow, Gandhi then said:




I [Linlithgow] must not feel surprised if in a few days it came out that he [Gandhi] had broken away from his friends. He had desired, since he and I had come so close together, himself to tell me these things in advance. Meanwhile he hoped that I would go quietly ahead on the line I had already taken. If by any chance a greater part of the Congress were to follow him (on the path of non-violence) then of course his own path and perhaps mine [Linlithgow’s] also would be greatly eased...I thanked him and asked no more.10





Judging from the exchange of views between Linlithgow and Jinnah later on the same day, it becomes evident that Gandhiji’s démarche had made no impression on the viceroy. For Gandhiji this was a way to help Britain, however tortuous the approach (and indeed he did everything to keep the Congress Party from obstructing the war effort, until 1942, when the Cripps* offer, with the embryo of Pakistan hidden in it, made him emote like a jilted lover). For Linlithgow, if Gandhiji were a true friend, he would have dug in his heels and forced the Congress Party to cooperate with the British war effort.


‘Jinnah’, the viceroy reported, began by ‘expressing great gratitude for what I had done to assist [him] in keeping his Party together’.11 Jinnah was referring to the pressure Linlithgow had applied on Sikandar Hayat Khan, the chief minister of the Punjab, to fall in line with Jinnah. Linlithgow’s disciplining Sikandar Hayat Khan was no small help. Besides being a staunch friend of the British, he was the premier of a province from which 50 per cent of the British Indian Army was recruited and a major figure in Indian politics. Though a member of the Muslim League, Sikandar Hayat Khan believed that his government, as well as the unity of his prosperous province, was being threatened by Jinnah’s policy of pitting the Muslims against the Hindus and the Sikhs, all of whom supported his coalition government in the Punjab. And lived amicably in it. Linlithgow’s perspective was different. After acknowledging Jinnah’s thanks, he told him:




It was clearly unsatisfactory that while one of the two great parties was well organized and well equipped to pursue its objectives and express its aims, that the other equally of great importance should be masked and prevented from securing its full expression by failure to secure an adequate mouthpiece. It was in the public interest that the Muslim point of view should be fully and competently expressed.12





The viceroy then sought Jinnah’s opinion on the Congress Party’s demands for a declaration of British objectives in India after the war and on the expansion of the council to accommodate political parties. It was now Jinnah’s turn to scratch Linlithgow’s back. Neither was necessary, Jinnah replied and added that he would refuse ‘to reach agreement either with the Congress or the government unless the plan of creating a united India was abandoned, and effective protection was given to the Muslim minorities in the Provinces’.13 Linlithgow, by citing this ‘Muslim objection’, could now deflect the Congress Party’s demands as well as those of the Labour Party critics at home.


Reinforced with this pledge of Jinnah, Linlithgow, on 17 October 1939, proceeded to issue a statement on British policy in India that brought about the Anglo–Congress Party rupture. This statement promised that, after the war, consultations would be held with representatives of various communities, parties and interests in British India and also with the Indian princes, to secure their cooperation in the framing of such modifications in the stalled federal scheme as may be agreed upon. And, in the meantime, to set up ‘a consultative group’ of the representatives of the political parties and princes.14 All this was very far from the Congress Party’s demands and was condemned by it as a reiteration of the same old imperialist policy of prevarication. And on 23 October, in a huff, the Congress ministries in the provinces decided to quit. Linlithgow, under London’s pressure, tried to placate the nationalists by suggesting an expansion of the Viceroy’s Executive Council to include political leaders, but the Congress Party went ahead with its resignations. This walking out by the Congress Party from the provincial governments was interpreted by many in England as its refusal to support Britain in its life-and-death struggle against the Axis powers. It turned out to be a watershed in Indo–British relations.
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There had been considerable support in England for the Congress Party’s demand for a British declaration on its post-war policy on India, with the Labour Party leader, Clement Attlee, wanting the viceroy to respond to it ‘with imaginative insight’.15 According to a private telegram from Zetland to Linlithgow, Stafford Cripps in a letter to Nehru had urged him to stand firm and not to recede by an inch from the position he had taken (on the declaration), which Zetland termed ‘all very naughty and extremely mischievous’.16


On the other hand, the mood of the British establishment in India that surrounded the viceroy was different. When Desmond Young, the editor of the Pioneer newspaper, had got Nehru to agree to terms for the Congress Party’s cooperation in the war that he wanted to show to Linlithgow, Sir John Gilbert Laithwaite, the viceroy’s private secretary, turned down his request for an interview with the viceroy, with the words: ‘Surely you don’t believe a word these fellows say. You are only wasting the Viceroy’s time.’17 And Laithwaite also headed off other Britishers such as Malcolm Darling, a senior British civil servant, who tried to intervene to prevent a rupture. For the British establishment in India, which was appalled that the Congress Party had been given power by London to govern over large parts of India, this was an easy way to get them off their backs.


After the administration of the Congress-run provinces was taken over by the government, Linlithgow began to lean even more towards the Muslim League. He calculated that in view of the Congress Party’s earlier commitment against Nazism and fascism, it would be hesitant to start a campaign of civil disobedience. Further that international opinion would condemn any action by this party that might thwart the war effort. The government was also confident that it had ample resources to crush any civil disobedience movement that the nationalists might launch.


When Gandhiji saw Linlithgow next on 4 November 1939 he regretted the turn things had taken, promised to continue to work towards a settlement and made several suggestions.18 However, all of them floundered as Linlithgow’s insisted that the Muslims and the princes would have to be first brought on board. When the viceroy saw Jinnah the same day the atmosphere was completely different. Referring to Jinnah’s public rejection of a declaration of British objectives in India after the war, Linlithgow thanked him for the ‘very valuable help he had given by standing firm against the Congress claims’ and added that he was ‘duly grateful’.19 In his telegram on his discussions with Zetland, he reported: ‘If Jinnah and the Congress had confronted me with a joint demand on this [the British declaration], the strain upon me and upon HMG would indeed have been very great.’20


Jinnah, after accepting Linlithgow’s thanks, made certain remarks that were bound to sound like music to any Britisher at that time and would be lapped up in London. ‘He [Jinnah] was extremely doubtful as to the capacity of India and Indians to look after themselves’, reported Linlithgow. And added: ‘If the British by any chance be beaten in the war and driven out of India, India would break into a hundred pieces in three months and lie open, in addition, to external invasion.’ After offering this bouquet, Jinnah came to the point he had come to make. Referring to the recent debate in the House of Lords, he said:




Prominent personages, who were quite likely to be in the [British] Cabinet after the war, had frankly urged that in India [the] majority must rule and the minority take their medicine.… When the opposition at home came into power they would force democratic government on India and anaesthetize the Muslims.21





Therefore, what he wanted was an undertaking from HMG that the Muslim community would not be compelled in any future dispensation to accept something it did not want. Linlithgow kept silent on this subject, but promised to forward this view to London for consideration.


Jinnah saw the viceroy again on 12 January 1940 and advised on the form the British undertaking should take: ‘If you say that you would make no new pronouncement or new constitutional departure unless the Muslims approved, he [Jinnah] would be attacked as the arch supporter of Imperialism and for playing our [British] game. Therefore the formulation should be that any pronouncement of a future advance would have to receive the approval of the two communities.’22 And then delivered the following broadside against the Congress Party that he knew would be more conducive to clinch his argument than any other on the basis of merit: ‘Show Congress that they can get nothing further out of you and once they know that, they will be more likely to come to a settlement and even if they don’t, what do you lose?’23 It is well to record here that whatever the sentiments of Jinnah on his ability to manipulate the viceroy, the latter was quite sure that he was using the former.




‘He [Jinnah] represents a minority and a minority that can only hold its own with our assistance’24





was how Linlithgow later put it to the secretary of state.


The next day Linlithgow was in Bombay and sent for Jinnah to seek his help in installing a Muslim League Ministry in the North West Frontier Province – the crucial province – from which the Congress Party Government had walked out in October 1939. Jinnah agreed to go to Lahore and make the effort. The collaboration between the British and Jinnah was now growing day by day. Linlithgow then told him that he was under pressure from England not to ‘indefinitely postpone normality’; in other words, he should try to bring back a measure of popular participation in government. The Muslim League chief’s reply, as reported by the viceroy, was as follows: ‘The Hindus were not capable of running a government as we will find for ourselves before we had finished.’25 And when Linlithgow drew his attention to an article by John Gunther, the American journalist, on Nehru, that had just appeared in the Life magazine in the United States, and asked him to do something to contradict such pro-Congress propaganda, Jinnah replied that he had no funds to do so, thereby leaving whatever had to be done in this context to his new British partner.26


At his next meeting with Gandhiji on 5 February 1940 Linlithgow unfolded his country’s plan to bring about ‘normality’ that the British Cabinet was pressing for. According to his report he told Gandhiji that despite his earlier announcement to suspend negotiations for the All-India Federation, HMG was now willing to resume them even during the war, and that such a federation could most appropriately be used as a means to achieve the goal of self-government within the Empire – by which he signalled Britain’s continued support for a unitary constitution, a significant point. Linlithgow’s report continues: ‘Gandhi responded to this by repeating the Congress stand that “there was no sufficient ground to render further discussions profitable”.’ Linlithgow claimed that he, nevertheless, persisted: ‘The whole business was something that had to grow’ – that some movement on the part of the Congress Party would start a process of mutual accommodation. But Gandhiji remained silent and another opportunity for holding a dialogue and for stemming the Jinnah tide was lost. Reported Linlithgow to Zetland: ‘The most probable explanation of the Congress attitude is that if they can but hold out for a little longer we may suffer such strong pressure from public opinion at home that we shall offer them a better bargain.’27


The viceroy saw Jinnah later the same day. Jinnah complained that the viceroy never appeared to break with Gandhiji, which created ‘dreadful suspense’. He threatened: ‘If the Congress Governments returned to provincial office there will be civil war in India.’ Then taking up Linlithgow’s request of the previous month to install a Muslim League Ministry in the North West Frontier Province, he observed that he required the support of the governor, Sir George Cunningham, to be able to do so. And added: ‘There could be no better advertisement of the real position in India whether before the country or throughout the world than that a non-Congress Ministry should be set up in the North West Frontier [Province].’28 Naturally, because a Congress Party Ministry in a 95 per cent Muslim-majority province was embarrassing to him – and to his plans for partition. And the viceroy agreed to ask the governor of NWFP to help Jinnah. It was to block further British initiatives of the type Linlithgow had made to Gandhiji and to keep the ball under his own feet that Jinnah now decided to come out openly with his ‘two-nation theory’ and place it on the negotiating table.
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The Congress Party, stranded in the wilderness, also now decided to issue a threat. The Congress Party Working Committee meeting at Patna at the end of February 1940 described the war as an ‘imperialist war’ and resolved that ‘the withdrawal of Congress Ministries [from the provinces] must naturally be followed by civil disobedience to which the Congress will unhesitatingly resort as soon as the Congress organization is considered fit enough for the purpose.’ This resolution was confirmed at the Ramgarh session of the Congress Party in March that year. Widely criticized in India as ‘completely ignoring the realities of the internal and international situation’, it provided Jinnah with the perfect backdrop for his move on Pakistan, which he made a few days later.


Eleven days before he gave the call for the partition of India, Jinnah took the viceroy into confidence regarding his plans on 13 March 1940. According to Linlithgow’s report to Zetland, Jinnah told him:




Given the development of the war [its possible extension into Asia] there was much to be said for our [British and Muslims] getting together…[but] if we wished for their [Muslims’] definite and effective help we must not sell the pass behind their backs.… He and his friends were clear that Muslims were not a minority but a nation, that democracy (i.e., majority rule) for India was impossible, and they were anxious not to let us get ourselves in a position in which our hold over India was deliberately and progressively withdrawn so that in the end the control of the country would be handed over to Hindu Raj. He [Jinnah] was quite prepared to contemplate the possibility that we might have to stay here much longer than was anticipated for the job of keeping the ring…. He wanted Muslim areas to be run by Muslims in collaboration with Great Britain, and that Muslims would be able to safeguard “because of their military power even those of their community who were domiciled in the Hindu areas”.29





Jinnah’s audacious remark that Muslims in their own state would be able to safeguard even their co-religionists left behind in India and his call for a continued British presence in the subcontinent after partition amounted to invoking a full-fledged Anglo–Muslim League alliance against a ‘Congress–Hindu India’ of the future.




Linlithgow replied to Jinnah as follows:


His Majesty’s Government’s presence would be needed in India longer than even some imagined [and this could be] in a manner as little out of tune with Indian aspirations as possible [and] in such a tripartite arrangement [Muslims, Hindus and the princes]…Britain would have the predominant responsibility for defence.30





Jinnah preferred instead a separate Muslim state dependent on British support to safeguard British interests. And that is what happened in the end.


Jinnah, on 24 March 1940, proclaimed at Lahore that ‘the Muslims are a separate nation according to any definition of a nation and they must have their own homelands, their territory and their states’. He suggested grouping the geographically contiguous areas in which the Muslims were numerically in a majority as in the northwest and eastern zones, to constitute autonomous and sovereign states with such territorial adjustments as may be necessary. No Muslim leader had so far proposed that a sovereign and separate Muslim state (or states) be founded in India in provinces where Muslims were in a numerical majority. The reasons for this were not hard to seek. But before we delve into these, let us continue to follow the British–Jinnah dialogue on the one hand and the ups and downs of the Congress Party policies on the other, which were contributing to the forging of the Anglo–Muslim League alliance.


The British reaction to Jinnah’s announcement becomes evident from the exchanges between the viceroy and the secretary of state on it. On 4 April 1940 Linlithgow wired Zetland:




I am not too keen to start talking about a period after which British rule will have ceased in India. I suspect that day is very remote…. It would [however] be politically unfortunate to criticize it [Jinnah’s plan].… The wise tactics would be to keep our hands free until a critical moment is reached in future constitutional discussions.31





And in a subsequent telegram advised: ‘Any constitutional progress for India must be preceded by internal agreement…to strike a balance.’ In other words, use this Jinnah’s plan to forestall the Congress Party and its supporters in England. Zetland agreed:




I do not feel much uneasiness about provoking Congress which has largely shot its bolt.… I feel the greatest possible uneasiness…over any measure that might provoke [the] Muslim League, in view of the uncertainties as regards the Middle East.… I would deprecate any step which might be interpreted as weighing scale in favour of Hindus by giving an insufficient weight to Muslim Leaguers.32





Meanwhile, there had been some adverse comments in the United States on Jinnah’s proposal to partition India. On this, Linlithgow advised Zetland ‘to make some play with the extent to which we have…continued insistence on Indian unity which you and I have repeatedly stressed’. He, however, warned that ‘any condemnation of Jinnah’s scheme will at once irritate Muslim feelings and will be seized on by Congress’.33


The secretary of state made a statement in the House of Lords on 18 April 1940. This was in response to Jinnah’s repeated pleas for a guarantee to the minorities. Zetland was equally responding to Linlithgow’s advice to ignore the Pakistan scheme but yet keep Jinnah in play:




I cannot believe that any government or Parliament in this country would admit to impose by force upon, for example, 80 million Muslim subjects of His Majesty in India a form of constitution under which they would not live peacefully and contentedly.34





On 19 April, Linlithgow underlined this particular portion of the secretary of state’s speech and sent it to Jinnah.


The viceroy was, by that stage, so taken up with idea of building up Jinnah as the spokesman of the Muslims in India that when Sikandar Hayat Khan, the premier of the Punjab, once again brought to the attention of the British governor of the province, Henry Craik, the danger that the Pakistan scheme would pose to the peace and unity of his province, Linlithgow asked the governor to just ignore him. By encouraging separatist forces in the Punjab in order to build up the strength of the Muslim League in India against the Congress Party, Linlithgow was playing a dangerous game of brinkmanship. And he cannot be entirely absolved of the blame for the communal carnage that subsequently engulfed the province in 1947, well after he had retired to his castle in Scotland.
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In May 1940 as the German panzers smashed through the low countries and raced towards Paris, Winston Churchill replaced Neville Chamberlain as the prime minister of Great Britain and Leopold Amery, who had been two years senior to Churchill at the Harrow School and who had hurled the Cromwellian words ‘in the name of God, Go!’ at Chamberlain, on the floor of the House of Commons, succeeded Lord Zetland as secretary of state for India. Churchill proved a great war leader and probably saved the world from Hitler. But his assumption of office was ominous for India, which, as was well known, was his blind spot. Amery, his friend, has been quoted as wondering




whether on the subject of India he is really quite sane – there is no relation between his manner, physical and intellectual on this theme and the equability and dominant good sense he displayed on issues directly affecting the conduct of the war.35





Churchill and his Tory friends had earlier sabotaged the scheme for an All-India Federation, which had been launched by his own Conservative Party Government in 1935, fearful that it may ultimately lead to dominion status for India. To Churchill ‘India was a geographical expression, a land that was no more a single country than the equator’; he had no qualms regarding how many pieces it was broken up into. After hearing him speak at a cabinet meeting, Lord Wavell, the future viceroy, noted in his diary: ‘Churchill hates India and everything to do with it.’36

OEBPS/images/bktitle.png
NARENDRA SINGH SARILA

The Shadow
of the
Great Game

THE UNTOLD STORY of
INDIA’S PARTITION

CONSTABLE - LONDON





OEBPS/images/star.png





OEBPS/images/cover.jpg
NARENDRA SINGH SARILA

The Shadow
of the
Great Game

THE UNTOLD STORY of
INDIA’S PARTITION

CONSTABLE - LONDON





